
 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, February 8, 2024                                                                              Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of January 25, 2024 

 
4. 1.5 Mile Review: Will County Zoning Case #ZC-23-110 / S-23-064 (Dralle Sun, LLC) 

Request: Special Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility in the A-1 Agricultural District for 
property located on the north side of Dralle Road immediately west of I-57 (PIN: 21-14-08-300-008-0000). 
 

5. 1.5 Mile Review: Will County Zoning Case #ZC-23-111 / S-23-065 (Dralle Sun 2, LLC) 
Request: Special Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility in the A-1 Agricultural District for 
property located on the south side of Dralle Road approximately 250 feet west of I-57, and commonly known 
as 6133 W. Dralle Road (PIN: 21-14-17-100-003-0000). 

 
6. Workshop:  219 Pacific Street – Lanigan Residence  

Future Public Hearing Request:  Variations from various sections of the Village of Frankfort Zoning 
Ordinance and Land Subdivision Regulations regarding first floor building materials (masonry required, 
mostly non-masonry proposed), reduced front yard Setback (Maple Street), reduced corner side yard setback 
(Pacific Street Street), increased maximum lot coverage, reduced lot width, and reduced lot depth, for the 
property located in the R-2 Single Family Residential District located at 219 Pacific Street (PIN: 19-09-28-
223-023-0000).  A single-lot Plat of Subdivision to establish a lot-of-record is also proposed. 
 

7. Public Comments 
 
8. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 
9. Other Business 

 
10. Attendance Confirmation (February 22, 2024) 

 
11. Adjournment 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable Federal and State laws, the meeting will be accessible 
to individuals with disabilities. Persons requiring auxiliary aids and/or services should contact the Community Development 
Department at (815) 469-2177, preferably no later than five days before the meeting. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        January 25, 2024 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Schaeffer called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Nichole Schaeffer (Chair), Brian James, Johnny Morris, Jessica 
Jakubowski, Will Markunas, David Hogan, Dan Knieriem 

Commissioners Absent: None 

Staff Present: Community & Economic Development Director Mike Schwarz, 
Senior Planner Christopher Gruba, Planner Amanda Martinez  

Elected Officials Present:  None  

A. Approval of the Minutes from January 11th, 2024 

Chair Schaeffer asked for questions or comments regarding the minutes.  There were none.  

Motion (#1):  To approve the minutes from January 11th, 2024, as presented. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0, Hogan & Knieriem abstained) 

B. Public Hearing: Dunkin’ Commercial Multi-Tenant Building 

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report and noted several corrections.  The square footage 
stated at the bottom of Page 1 should be changed be 8,570 net square feet.  On the next line 
down, the sentence should read “would include five (previously four) tenant spaces.  On 
Page 4, the opening hours should be 4:00 a.m.  Lastly, on Page 5, in the fourth paragraph, 
a minimum of 72 spaces would be required. 

The Eric Carlson project architect and the Krupa Shah, the applicant/franchisee approached 
the podium to introduce themselves and share their background. 

The project architect added that this project came about because the franchisee is trying to 
move her business from the current Dunkin’ location at 20551 S. La Grange Road. The 

 
 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 2 
 

reason the applicant added a fifth tenant space to the proposed building since the workshop 
meeting is because there is probably not a market for a tenant space larger than 1,500 square 
feet. Tropical Smoothie Café isn’t contracted yet but they contacted the applicant 
requesting a smaller space. Regarding signage, the applicant wants flexibility for any tenant 
that has a long name i.e. “Tropical Smoothie Café” so the applicant is seeking approval of 
a smaller size for the lettering (7-inch). The three retaining walls changed since the 
workshop meeting since the engineers are working together on the grade change between 
the subject site and the adjacent property. The corner by the pond hass the tallest portion 
of retaining wall and will not be visible from right-of-way. 

Commissioner Hogan thanked the applicant for taking feedback from the workshop 
meeting and applying it to the proposed plans. He stated most of his questions were about 
retaining walls, which the project architect already answered. 

Commissioner Morris asked if the client considering readability when they are requesting 
a smaller letter size. He asked if that would force tenants to shorten their name of the 
business. 

The project architect responded that he measured multiple signs from strip centers and 
noticed that a lot of them have 5-inch or 6-inch letter size. 

Commissioner James asked if the applicant is ok with the condition about moving the sign 
location to meet the required setback. 

Mike Schwarz responded that he may have miscalculated the sign setback, the sign cannot 
be in the landscape setback area, but he will double check if it is compliant or not before 
the architect moves the sign location. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked what block material would be used to construct the 
retaining wall. 

The project architect responded that it would be stacked block. 

Commissioner Knieriem responded that he is ok with that material because it is in the 
southeast corner which is less visible. 

There was general discussion about the need for the two landscape islands on the outer 
edge of the drive-through lanes, and there was a consensus to keep them depicted on the 
proposed plans. 

Commissioner Knieriem mentioned that the proposed multiple heights of the lettering on 
the monument sign and the orange lettering is not appealing. 

There was discussion about when the applicant would like to break ground. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 3 
 

There was a consensus that the proposed use, hours of operation, and drive-through special 
use were all agreeable. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if any Commissioners had comments about parking. 

Commissioner Markunas asked how many employees are present during peak hours at the 
existing Dunkin’ location. He stated he has no issue with the provided parking but would 
like to know for reference. 

The applicant/franchisee responded that 6 employees are present during peak hours. 

There was general discussion about potentially connecting the subject site and the adjacent 
Vineyards property by implementing a sidewalk between the two, closer to the storefront 
than the public sidewalk.  

Mike Schwarz responded that it would be best to just use the public sidewalk given that 
there is a significant grade change in the area where the storefront sidewalk potentially 
would be extended south.  Such a connection at this point also would be located at the rear 
of The Vineyards building, where the existing trash containers are located.   

Chair Schaeffer asked if any Commissioners had comments about the outdoor seating 
Special Use request. 

There was a consensus that the two proposed outdoor seating area locations were fine. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that the umbrella color should be neutral, rather than 
orange. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that the tables and chairs would be more appealing in 
black to match the building’s awnings. 

The project architect responded that black furniture gets hot in the sun. The fence location, 
style, and heigh is correct as proposed but there will be a revision to add bollards rather 
than the currently proposed posts.  

There was a consensus that the bollards rather than posts were fine. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if any Commissioners had comments about the tree preservation 
plan. She added that it sounds like the applicant is compliant by providing a 1 for 1 
replacement.  

There was a consensus that the 1 for 1 ratio was fine for the applicant’s tree preservation 
plan. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 4 
 

Mike Schwarz mentioned that the Village Landscaping Regulations requires parkway 
trees, but IDOT may not allow the parkway trees in their right-of-way. He added that he 
would work with the applicant to provide parkway trees on-site rather than in IDOT’s right-
of-way.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if any Commissioners had comments about the proposed 
architecture. She asked if the applicant could confirm that the rope lighting will be hidden 
behind the canopy and that the brick is full dimensional brick. 

The project architect responded that the rope light is pushed against the building and the 
rope light is super thin hidden in between the metal canopy, so it would not be visible. He 
confirmed the brick is full dimensional brick and provided samples of the proposed brick 
and the stone accent material. 

Mike Schwarz noted that the Frankfort Fire Protection District is looking to add a new Fire 
Code amendment related to firefighter safety and rooftop access.  He explained that the 
new requirement would limit the height dimension between the deck of the roof and the 
top of the parapet to 42 inches.  Currently the Building Elevations do not depict or note the 
necessary rooftop mechanical equipment, but such rooftop mechanical equipment must be 
screened while still meeting the proposed Fire District requirement.  The project architect 
will need to carefully select lower profile equipment or come up with an alternative roof 
deck design that meets both the Village and Fire District requirements. 

The project architect responded that roof screens are expensive, so an idea would be to 
design an additional platform on the roof. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if any Commissioners had comments about signage. She stated that 
instead of measuring the setback of the monument sign on the spot, she recommends adding 
a condition that generally states it must comply with the setback requirement.  

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she thinks the tenants need to have the same size 
lettering. 

Commissioner James stated that he is ok with the monument sign since it matches the 
signage on the building. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that he does not often see sign variations, so he thinks the 
Commission should hold to the required lettering size. He added that the purpose of the 
Code is to ensure that every tenant does not have signage on the monument sign. 

There was discussion about how there are not many signs around town that list all tenants 
of a plaza on a monument sign.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 5 
 

Commissioner James stated that it is tricky because there are businesses on LaGrange Road 
that were approved as Planned Unit Developments (PUDs) and there are smaller businesses 
complying with the lettering size requirement. 

Commissioner Hogan stated that he thinks that since the Commission hasn’t historically 
deviated, the 12-inch minimum lettering size requirement should be maintained. He added 
that his comment was strictly regarding the lettering, but he is ok with the size of the sign 
itself. 

There was a consensus to split up the sign motion to vote separately on the size of the free-
standing sign and the lettering on the sign. 

Commissioner Morris asked if it was allowable to use two lines of text for a single tenant 
if signage was only allowed on one line.  

Mike Schwarz responded yes, two lines of text for one tenant would be permitted subject 
to the minimum text height requirement. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the public for comments.  

Taylor Broman, a resident, approached the podium and mentioned that just north of the 
subject property is the O’Reilly’s Auto Parts building which has a similar sized sign with 
not all tenants listed. 

Chair Schaeffer thanked the resident for the reference and noted that at the workshop 
meeting the Commission reviewed several other comparable signs that are located on 
LaGrange Road. 

Motion (#2):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved by voice vote: (7-0)   

Motion (#3):  Approve a waiver of the required travel lane (cross-access with the adjacent 
property to the south) under Article 7, Part 4(c) of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (7-0)   

Motion (#4):  Approve three (3) retaining walls which exceed 50 feet in length and exceed 
2.5 feet in height per the submitted plans, pursuant to Sections 4.03E(13) and 4.03E(15) of 
the Village of Frankfort Design Standards. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 6 
 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (7-0)   

Motion (#5):  Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use 
Permit for a carry out restaurant (for the Dunkin’ restaurant) for the property located in the 
B-2 Community Business District, on the east side of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis 
Road (PIN 19-09-15-301-034-0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public 
testimony, and Findings of Fact, and additionally subject to the following conditions: 

1. Subject to the Village Engineer’s approval of the Final Engineering Plans. 
2. Subject to the Village Board’s approval of the pending Text Amendment to the 

Zoning Ordinance pertaining to parking regulations (removal of the employee 
count component of the calculation). 

3. If necessary, prior to Village Board consideration, the Site Plan shall be revised to 
comply with the required minimum 25-foot setback requirement (Section 
151.041(B)(1)(b) of the Village of Frankfort Municipal Code). Additionally, the 
Landscape Plan shall be revised to reflect the required landscaping around the base 
of the free-standing sign (Section 151.041(B)(1)(b) of the Village of Frankfort 
Municipal Code). 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (7-0)   

Motion (#6):  Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use 
Permit for drive-up service windows associated with a permitted use (for the Dunkin’ 
restaurant), for a property located in the B-2Community Business District, on the east side 
of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-09-15-301-034-0000), in 
accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, and 
additionally subject to the following conditions: 

1. Subject to the Village Engineer’s approval of the Final Engineering Plans. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (7-0)   

Motion (#7):  Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use 
Permit for outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant (for the Dunkin’ 
restaurant) for a property located in the B-2 Community Business District, on the east side 
of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-09-15-301-034-0000), in 
accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, and 
additionally subject to the following conditions: 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 7 
 

1. Subject to the Village Engineer’s approval of the Final Engineering Plans. 
2. There shall be no advertising on the patio umbrellas or any other patio furniture. 
3. The Special Use Permit for outdoor seating is only valid for those areas depicted 

on the Site Plan and per the patio furniture details for the proposed Dunkin’ 
restaurant. Any future restaurant on the subject property which may propose patio 
furniture which is different from the Dunkin’ patio furniture details, shall submit 
patio furniture details for review and approval by Village staff. 

4. Subject to earth tone, neutral, beige, or tan colored umbrellas. 

Motion by: Markunas    Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#8):  Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use 
Permit for extended hours of operation (for the Dunkin’ restaurant opening at 4:00 a.m.) 
for a property located in the B-2 Community Business District, on the east side of La 
Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-09-15-301-034-0000), in accordance with 
the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (7-0)   

Motion (#9): Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Variation from 
Section 151.041(B)(1)(h) of the Frankfort Municipal Code to allow a free-standing sign to 
exceed the maximum permitted area of 15 square feet (37.5 square feet proposed), for a 
property located in the B-2 Community Business District located on the east side of La 
Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-09-15-301-034-0000), in accordance with 
the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (7-0)   

Motion (#10): Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Variation from 
Section 151.041(B)(1)(i) of the Frankfort Municipal Code to allow a free-standing sign to 
exceed the minimum height of the text on a free-standing sign to be less than 12 inches (7 
inches minimum proposed), for a property located in the B-2 Community Business District, 
on the east side of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-09-15-301-034-
0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

Motion by: Knieriem    Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-2)   



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 8 
 

Chair Schaeffer called for a short recess at 8:25 pm.  The meeting was reconvened at 8:31 
pm.  

C. Public Hearing: 39 & 49 E. Bowen Street – Chicago Title Land Trust Company Trust 
No. 8002380636 
 
Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.  

The applicant, Steve Lecas, approached the podium. He said that the Zoning Ordinance 
regulations should not be applicable to the proposed house.  He said that some of the 
sections of walls longer than 35’ are recessed behind a covered porch.  He said that the 
walls on the north and south sides of the house would have four sets of 9’ high windows, 
and four 8”x8” posts, which break up the look of those walls.   

There was some discussion and disagreement between staff and Mr. Lecas about the square 
footage of the home. Staff mentioned that the square footage of the home is a result of the 
1st floor, 2nd floor, and basement. Chair Schaeffer said that the square footage wasn’t 
entirely pertinent to the wall length variation request.  Mr. Lecas disagreed, saying that he 
didn’t want people to think that he wanted to build a 10,000 square foot home.  

Commissioner Hogan asked if the windows or doors counted toward breaking up the 35’ 
sections of wall, thereby negating the requirement for a variation.  Amanda Martinez 
replied that, upon discussion with the Building Department, walls and doors to not count 
toward breaking up the length of a wall.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked the public for comments.  

Lisa Slattery, who lives at 42 E. Bowen Street, approached the podium.  She said that the 
proposed house is beautiful, but her main concern is the issue of flooding in her backyard.  
She said that this flooding has become worse over time and is concerned that the 
construction of this large house would exacerbate the flooding.  She said that the drainage 
swales installed by the Village in the area do not collect any water. She said that the berms 
that were created by the Village in Prairie Park have also contributed to flooding on her 
property. She said that she’s discussed this with Terry Kestel, who has been very nice, but 
that the problem persists.  

Chair Schaeffer asked staff if they could elaborate on stormwater in this area.  Mike 
Schwarz said that the current topic before the Commission is the variation request, but that 
he would bring this to the attention of the Village’s Public Works Department and 
Consulting Engineer.  Ms. Slattery responded that it was the Village’s engineer that decided 
that the swales were needed in the first place, which do not function as intended.  Chair 
Schaeffer said that Ms. Slattery’s comments would be included on the record and that staff 
would follow up on her concerns.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 9 
 

Resident Brett Fickes approached the podium and said that he supports the project.  

Resident Taylor Broman approached the podium.  She said that she lives across the street 
and has no issue with the proposed new house. She said that this would be a good time to 
focus on drainage issues because the sump pump in her house runs constantly.  

There was no other public comment.  

Motion (#11):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (7-0) 

Commissioner Knieriem believed that the 35’ maximum wall length regulation doesn’t 
apply to the house mostly because of the scale of the house.  If the house were smaller, 
such as the size of a trailer, it would make sense.  He said that the proposed house meets 
building setbacks.  Commissioner James agreed that the variation was reasonable because 
of the scale of the house relative to the lot size.  

Chair Schaeffer asked staff if shifting the house to the east would still allow the house to 
comply with building setback regulations.  Amanda Martinez responded yes, and that it 
meets the minimum 10’ side yard setback.    

Motion (#12):  Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a variation to 
allow more than two (2) uninterrupted wall lengths of  thirty-five (35) feet or greater along 
any façade of a primary structure, and to exceed the required maximum thirty-five (35) 
foot length of an uninterrupted wall facing a public right-of-way, for the property located 
in the R-2, Single Family Residential District at 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street, Frankfort, 
Illinois (PIN: 1909223040120000 and PIN: 1909223040130000), in accordance with the 
submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, and additionally, subject to 
engineering and Building Permit review. 
 
Motion by: Jakubowski               Seconded by: Morris 

Approved: (7-0)  

D. Workshop: Abbey Woods North 

Christopher Gruba presented the staff report.  

The property owner Steve Beemsterboer, the developer Shawn O’Malley, and the Project 
Engineer Brian Hertz approached the podium. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 10 
 

Steve Beemsterboer stated his condolences for the loss of former member Paula Wallrich. 

Steve Beemsterboer described the proposed swale along the shared property line with the 
Fleck property.  He added that this solution helps both properties.  He stated that Shawn is 
a high-quality builder and he wants to do development we can all be proud of.  This should 
be a welcome addition to Frankfort. 

Shawn O’Malley explained the need to gravity feed the site toward St. Francis Road.  He  
stated that the reason for the swale is that there is a large drainage area that comes across 
both properties from St. Francis Road toward Hickory Creek.   

Brian Hertz stated that roughly 60 acres on the north side of St. Francis Road and another 
roughly 60 acres to the east of the property drain through the two properties toward Hickory 
Creek. 

Shawn O’Malley stated that this existing drainage is what creates the need for the large 
swale.  He stated that he created an exhibit with photos regarding the proposed retaining 
walls and he distributed paper copies to the Commission.  He described each photo example 
to illustrate that the form-liner retaining walls will be extremely durable. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that he appreciated the details on the retaining walls but 
doesn’t think there are any issues as far as the Commission member are concerned. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if the walls will have tie-backs. 

Brian Hertz replied probably not. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that this is a workshop and we can go through each part of the staff 
report and take questions or comments from the Commission as we go. 

Shawn O’Malley stated that they are almost through final engineering.  The review process 
has been very painful. 

There was consensus among the Commission members that there are some land hardships 
with respect to the lot widths. 

Commissioner James asked if there was a possibility of shifting any lots to meet the lot 
width requirement.  The developer only would need about 14 feet. 

Shawn O’Malley replied that the street stub location is set after several rounds of 
engineering review, and they really can’t meet those lot width requirements on those few 
lots.  He stated that really only Lot 14 has a the tight back yard. He has no issue with that 
lot or the corner lots being restricted to not requesting any future variations. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 11 
 

Chair Schaeffer asked for any comments on spacing of the light poles.   

There was consensus among the Commission members that the light pole spacing is fine. 

Chair Schaeffer asked for any comments on the length of the cul-de-sac. 

Shawn O’Malley stated that he wonders if this Code section applies due to the stub street 
breaking up the cul-de-sac street length. 

Chris Gruba stated that the connection to the west may never be made, so it should apply.  
He added that the long-term goal is to connect the stub through the Fleck property back to 
St. Francis Road and ultimately be able to loop the water and sewer mains. 

Mike Schwarz stated that the Village would not want to be on the hook for the potential 
future cost of any street or culvert improvements that would be necessary for the proposed 
stub street to potentially connect to the Fleck property. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that the biggest issue she heard tonight was that there is still some 
final engineering that needs to be resolved.  There is also the issue of tree mitigation. 

There were no other comments on landscaping. 

There was consensus among the Commission members on a traditional subdivision with 
variations versus a Planned Unit Development (PUD). 

Chair Schaeffer stated that she wanted to go on record that the mowing and maintenance 
of the swale shall be the responsibility of the HOA and should be covered in the recorded 
covenants.    

Chair Schaeffer stated that there are no issues from the Park District or School District. 

Commissioner Markunas asked the project team if they believe they have received good 
feedback. 

Shawn O’Malley stated that Robinson Engineering has reviewed this many times and they 
never asked for the proposed stub street to be extended.  The culvert would need to be 
about 6 feet in diameter and would straddle the property line. 

Steve Beemsterboer asked if there could be an escrow or letter of credit to cover the cost 
of the culvert for the street stub to the west if it is not deemed be feasible at this time. 

Mike Schwarz responded that this could be explored with the Village Administration and 
as part of the pending annexation agreement, and would be subject to the Village’s 
Engineer’s review. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 12 
 

Chair Schaeffer stated that the project has made progress since the last workshop. 

Chair Schaeffer invited the audience to add any comments reminding them that this is not 
a public hearing. 

T.J. Marczali approached the podium and stated that he is in the midst of a lawsuit 
concerning the recapture owed for this property.  He did not know of the first workshop 
until now.  He just wanted the Commission to know that the recapture must be paid prior 
to the issuance of any building permits. 

Steve Beemsterboer stated that to give some background, Chicago Title gave him clean 
title, but now it’s an issue for their insurance company as far as the legal matter. 

T.J. Marczali stated that he just wanted make everyone aware of the pending litigation. 

E. Public Comments 

There were no public comments. 

F. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that the following projects were approved by the Village Board at its 
meeting on January 16, 2024: 

 
• Thrift Home & Restoration at 21420 S. Harlem Avenue 
• CNC Lawn Care at 165 Industry Avenue, Unit 3  
• Sauna Guard Wellness Center at 11240 W. Laraway Road 

G. Other Business 

There was no other business. 

H. Attendance Confirmation (February 8th, 2024) 

Chair Schaeffer asked Commissioners to please let staff know if someone cannot attend 
the next meeting.  Commissioner Jakubowski said she won’t be able to attend the next 
meeting.  

Motion (#13): Adjournment 10:08 P.M. 

Motion by: Jakubowski               Seconded by: Markunas 

The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote (7-0). 

Approved February 8th, 2024 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/25/24 | Page 13 
 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Nichole Schaeffer, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 



1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                             February 8, 2024 

 
Project: Will County Case ZC-23-110 (S-23-064) 
Meeting Type:  1.5-Mile Extraterritorial Review  
Requests: Special-Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility 
Purpose:         To permit a commercial solar energy property on the property 
Location: North side of Dralle Road immediately west of I-57 (PIN: 21-14-08-300-008-0000) 
Applicant:  Dralle Sun, LLC 
Prop. Owner:  Marquette Bank Trust No. 17330, John Eamon Malone, Sole Director and Controller 
Consultants:   Benjamin Jacobi, Attorney, Polsinelli PC    
Representative: Alex Farkes, 22C Development, LLC dba Dralle Sun, LLC    
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 59.3 acres                                                                         Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): 21-14-08-300-008-0000     
Annexation: Not applicable 
Existing Zoning:  Will County A-1 Agricultural District 
Prop.  Zoning: Will County A-1 with a Special-Use Permit for a  
 commercial solar energy facility 
Building(s) / Lot(s): 0 buildings / 1 tax parcel 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Agriculture  Industrial/Utility ROW Will County 
A-1 

North  Agriculture 
 

Industrial 
 

Will County 
A-1 

South  Agriculture  Industrial  Will County 
A-1/ 

University 
Park I-
District 

(Industrial) 
East Highway (I-57); 

Industrial 
 Not Included University 

Park I-
District 

(Industrial) 
West Agriculture Industrial Will County 

A-1 

 
Project Summary  
 
Alex Farkes, representing 22C Development, LLC doing business as Dralle Sun, LLC is the contract purchaser and 
applicant for a proposed commercial solar energy facility located on approximately 62.53 acres of cropped farmland 
in unincorporated Monee Township in Will County, located on the north side of Dralle Road immediately west of 
I-57 (PIN 21-14-08-300-008-0000).  The northern portion of the subject property is bisected by the Commonwealth 
Edison regional electricity transmission lines.  The subject property is currently zoned A-1 Agricultural District in Will 
County.   
 
As the subject property is located within the Village's 1.5-mile extraterritorial jurisdiction (abutting the Village 
municipal boundary located to the west along Dralle Road), the Village may comment on the proposed Special Use 



2 

Permit application.  The recommendation of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals will be forwarded to the 
Village Board, which in turn may make a recommendation to Will County for consideration. 
 
Attachments 

1. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS  
2. Site Photos taken by staff 2.2.24  
3. Will County Application 
4. Plat of Survey 
5. Legal Description 
6. Site Plan 
7. Your Frankfort / Your Future 2040 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (Excerpt) 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The proposed Special Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility is generally compatible with the 
Village of Frankfort's Your Frankfort Your Future 2040 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map which 
designates the subject property as Industrial. 
 

• The submitted plans indicate that a 7-megawatt solar energy facility is proposed.  15,810 modules (solar 
panels) are proposed.  The modules would be mounted on a fixed-tilt racking system.  The applicant has 
indicated that at their full tilt, the height of the modules would be no more than 20 feet in height, although 
the exact height and final system specifications have not yet been decided. 
 

• The perimeter of the facility would be enclosed with a fixed knot farm fence.  Staff notes that this type of 
fence may provide some measure of access control but does not provide any visual screening.  The 
submitted plans reflect a proposed vegetation buffer along the east property line abutting I-57, which 
would be an approximately 17-18-foot-wide buffer with a single, staggered row of evergreens.  Additionally, 
a L-shaped landscape buffer is depicted at the southwest corner of the facility, presumably to provide a 
measure of visual screening from eastbound Dralle Road. 
 

• Staff met with the applicant in January 2023 to discuss the proposed development.  At that time, staff 
informed the applicant that the subject property is contiguous to the Village of Frankfort and would be 
eligible for potential annexation, subject to an annexation agreement with the Village.  Under such a 
scenario, the proposed development would require a Special Use Permit for a Utility Facility (Solar Farm), 
and a Preliminary/Final Plat of Subdivision to create a single-lot subdivision.  At that time, the applicant also 
expressed interest in developing a similar facility directly across Dralle Road to the south which is the subject 
of companion Will County Case ZC-23-111.   
 

• In previous discussions with the applicant, Village staff suggested that there be a dedication of right-of-way 
along Dralle Road approaching the terminus at I-57, to widen and taper the existing right-way, so that there 
is enough space to accommodate any potential future overpass, and also provide enough width for 
potential future retaining walls.  The applicant seemed receptive to that suggestion.  Village staff also 
requested that the applicant provide a landscape screening plan for Village review. 
 

• Per the official Will County notification which Village staff received via email on January 22, 2024, and via 
USPS Certified Mail on February 1, 2024, the scheduled hearing date is February 20, 2024, at 6:30 p.m. at 
the Will County Office Building, 302 North Chicago Street, 2nd floor Board Room, Joliet, Illinois.  The 
officials and jurisdictions copied on the email are invited to submit written comments.   

 
SUGGESTED AFFIRMATIVE MOTION 
Recommend the Village Board object/ not object to the proposed Special-Use Permit for a commercial solar energy 
facility, Will County Case ZC-23-110 (S-23-064), on the unincorporated property located on the north side of Dralle 
Road immediately west of I-57 (PIN 21-14-08-300-008-0000). 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.28

1: 9,028

0 Miles

PIN 21-14-08-300-008-0000

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

1/31/2024 Date:

0.14

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels

Townships

Flood Hazard Area

1% Annual Chance Flood Hazard

Regulatory Floodway

0.2% Annual Chance Flood Hazard

Area of Minimal Flood Hazard

Area with Reduced Risk Due to Levee

Wetlands

Lacustrine

Palustrine

Riverine

Upland



Site Photos – Will County Case ZC-23-110 

 

 

Figure 1: Subject property, viewed looking north from Dralle Road. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2: Property to the south, viewed looking south from Dralle Road.   

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: View east along Dralle Road.  I-57 and IBEW building visible in background. 

     

Figure 4: View west along Dralle Road.   



mschwarz
Received











mschwarz
Received



ZC-23-110 LEGAL DESCRIPTION

THE EAST ½ OF THE SOUTHWEST ¼ OF SECTION 8, IN TOWNSHIP 34 NORTH, AND IN RANGE 13 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING WEST OF THE WEST LINE OF THE LAND TAKEN BY 
CONDEMNATION, IN CASE NO. W67G394H, IN CIRCUIT COURT, IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

SUBJECT TO: RIGHTS OF THE PUBLIC FOR THAT PART OF THE LAND TAKEN OR USED FOR ROAD 
PURPOSES; GRANTS RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 814739, DOCUMENT NO. R73-28095, DOCUMENT 
NO. 660644, DOCUMENT NO.  R77-4018, DOCUMENT NO. 898910, AND DOCUMENT NO. 233044.

PERMANENT INDEX NOS.: 14-08-300-008 (PARCEL I) 

COMMONLY KNOWN AS: I-57 AND DRALLE ROAD, MONEE TOWNSHIP, ILLINOIS

mschwarz
Received



mschwarz
Received



 



 

1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                             February 8, 2024 

 
Project: Will County Case ZC-23-111 (S-23-065) 
Meeting Type:  1.5-Mile Extraterritorial Review  
Requests: Special-Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility 
Purpose:         To permit a commercial solar energy property on the property 
Location: South side of Dralle Road approximately 250 feet west of I-57 (PIN: 21-14-17-100-003-

0000) 
Applicant:  Dralle Sun 2, LLC 
Prop. Owner:  Marquette Bank Trust No. 17330, John Eamon Malone, Sole Director and Controller 
Consultants:   Benjamin Jacobi, Attorney, Polsinelli PC    
Representative: Alex Farkes, 22C Development, LLC dba Dralle Sun, LLC    
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 39.75 acres                                                                         Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): 21-14-17-100-003-0000     
Annexation: Not applicable 
Existing Zoning:  Will County A-1 Agricultural District 
Prop.  Zoning: Will County A-1 with a Special-Use Permit for a  
 commercial solar energy facility 
Building(s) / Lot(s): 4 buildings / 1 tax parcel 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Agriculture  Industrial Will County A-1 

North  Agriculture 
 

Industrial/Utility ROW 
 

Will County A-1 

South  Industrial   Not Included  Monee M1 
(Manufacturing) 

East Forest/Highway (I-57)  Industrial Will County A-1 

West Agriculture/Rural 
Residential 

Industrial Will County 
A-1 

 
Project Summary  
 
Alex Farkes, representing 22C Development, LLC doing business as Dralle Sun 2, LLC is the contract purchaser and 
applicant for a proposed commercial solar energy facility located on approximately 39.75 acres of cropped farmland 
in unincorporated Monee Township in Will County, located on the south side of Dralle Road approximately 250 
feet west of I-57 (PIN 21-14-17-100-003-0000).  The northern portion of the property currently contains a, 82’ x 48’ 
pole building, a 40’ x 25’ corn crib, a 60’ x 30’ barn building, and 25’ x 25’ garage.  The subject property is currently 
zoned A-1 Agricultural District in Will County.   
 
As the subject property is located within the Village's 1.5-mile extraterritorial jurisdiction (abutting a corner of the 
Village’s municipal boundary to the northeast), the Village may comment on the proposed Special Use Permit 
application.  The recommendation of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals will be forwarded to the Village 
Board, which in turn may make a recommendation to Will County for consideration. 
 
 



2 

Attachments 
1. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS  
2. Site Photos taken by staff 2.2.24  
3. Will County Application 
4. Plat of Survey 
5. Legal Description 
6. Site Plan 
7. Your Frankfort / Your Future 2040 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (Excerpt) 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The proposed Special Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility is generally compatible with the 
Village of Frankfort's Your Frankfort Your Future 2040 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map which 
designates the subject property as Industrial. 
 

• The submitted plans indicate that a 5-megawatt solar energy facility is proposed, generally south of the 
existing buildings.  9.870 modules (solar panels) are proposed.  The modules would be mounted on a fixed-
tilt racking system.  The applicant has indicated that at their full tilt, the height of the modules would be no 
more than 20 feet in height, although the exact height and final system specifications have not yet been 
decided. 
 

• The perimeter of the facility would be enclosed with a 7-foot-high fixed knot farm fence.  Staff notes that 
this type of fence may provide some measure of access control but does not provide any visual screening.  
The submitted plans reflect a proposed vegetation buffer near the northwest corner of the facility, 
presumably to provide a measure of visual screening from eastbound Dralle Road. 
 

• Staff met with the applicant in January 2023 to discuss the proposed development.  At that time, staff 
informed the applicant that the subject property is contiguous to the Village of Frankfort and would be 
eligible for potential annexation, subject to an annexation agreement with the Village.  Under such a 
scenario, the proposed development would require a Special Use Permit for a Utility Facility (Solar Farm), 
and a Preliminary/Final Plat of Subdivision to create a single or multiple-lot subdivision.  At that time, the 
applicant also expressed interest in developing a similar facility directly across Dralle Road to the north 
which is the subject of companion Will County Case ZC-23-110.   
 

• In previous discussions with the applicant, Village staff suggested that there be a dedication of right-of-way 
along Dralle Road approaching the terminus at I-57, to widen and taper the existing right-way, so that there 
is enough space to accommodate any potential future overpass, and also provide enough width for 
potential future retaining walls.  The applicant seemed receptive to that suggestion.  Village staff also 
requested that the applicant provide a landscape screening plan for Village review. 
 

• Per the official Will County notification which Village staff received via USPS Certified Mail on February 1, 
2024, the scheduled hearing date is February 20, 2024, at 6:30 p.m. at the Will County Office Building, 302 
North Chicago Street, 2nd floor Board Room, Joliet, Illinois.  The officials and jurisdictions copied on the 
email are invited to submit written comments.   

 
SUGGESTED AFFIRMATIVE MOTION 
Recommend the Village Board object/ not object to the proposed Special-Use Permit for a commercial solar energy 
facility, Will County Case ZC-23-111 (S-23-065), on the unincorporated property located on the south side of Dralle 
Road approximately 250 feet west of I-57 (21-14-17-100-003-0000). 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.28

1: 9,028

0 Miles

PIN 21-14-17-100-003-0000

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

2/1/2024 Date:

0.14

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels

Townships

Flood Hazard Area

1% Annual Chance Flood Hazard

Regulatory Floodway

0.2% Annual Chance Flood Hazard

Area of Minimal Flood Hazard

Area with Reduced Risk Due to Levee

Wetlands

Lacustrine

Palustrine

Riverine

Upland



Site Photos – Will County Case ZC-23-111 
 

 

Figure 1: Subject property, viewed looking south from Dralle Road.  

 

 

Figure 2: Property to the north, viewed looking north from Dralle Road.   



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: View east along Dralle Road.  I-57 and IBEW building visible in background. 

     

Figure 4: View west along Dralle Road.   















ZC-23-111 LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

THE EAST 1/2 OF THE SOUTWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 8, IN TOWNSHIP 34 NORTH, AND IN RANGE 13 EAST 
OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING WEST OF THE WEST LINE OF THE LAND TAKEN BY 
CONDEMNATION, IN CASE NO. W67G394H, IN CIRCUIT COURT, IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

PERMANENT INDEX NO.:  21-14-17-100-003-0000 (PARCEL 2) 

COMMONLY KNOWN AS: I-57 AND DRALLE ROAD, MONEE TOWNSHIP, ILLINOIS 

 





   



Planning Commission / ZBA                                                     S      January 25, 2024 

Project: Lanigan Residence  
Meeting Type:  Workshop  
Request: 7 Variations related to new single-family home 
Location: 219 Pacific Street 
Applicant: Linden Group Architects 
Prop. Owner: William & Donna Lanigan 
Representative: Grant Currier 
Staff Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 
Site Details 

Lot Size: 15,526 sq. ft.            Figure 1. Location Map    

PIN(s): 19-09-28-223-023-0000
Existing Zoning: R-2
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings / Lots: 1 house w/ attached garage 
Proposed house: 4,375 sq. ft. (gross living area) 
Proposed garage: 894 sq. ft. (attached) 

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Project Summary 

William and Donna Lanigan purchased the vacant corner property at 219 Pacific Street to construct a new single-
family home with a gross living area of 4,375 square feet.  There was a former house on this property that was 
demolished in July 2022 but unfortunately, no plan or survey exists of the former house.  The proposed house 
would require 7 variations.  A Plat of Subdivision will also be required, since the parcel was never platted as a lot (it 
is currently metes & bounds).  The architect has described the style of the proposed house as “Midwestern 
Colonial with farmhouse and craftsman influence”.  The house would have a full basement.  Even though the 
property has the address of 219 Pacific Street, the side adjacent to Maple Street is shorter which technically makes 
it the front property line.  The seven (7) variations requested are:    

1. 1st Floor Building Materials (masonry required, mostly non-masonry proposed)
2. Front Yard Setback (Maple Street)
3. Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific Street Street)
4. Maximum Lot Coverage
5. Insufficient Lot Width (Zoning Ordinance)
6. Insufficient Lot Depth (Zoning Ordinance)
7. Insufficient Lot Width and Depth (Land Subdivision Regulations, Ord-921)

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property     Residential Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

North Residential  Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

South  Residential Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

East Residential Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

West Residential Single-Family 
Attached 

R-4 

1



Attachments 
1. Location Map, prepared by staff (VOF GIS) scale 1:1,000 
2. Downtown Boundary Map (excerpt from 2019 Comprehensive Plan) with subject property noted 
3. Downtown Residential Guidelines (Quick Checklist excerpt) 
4. Variation Findings of Fact, received 1.19.24 
5. Survey, received December 28, 2023 
6. Plat of Subdivision, received 1.19.24 
7. Submittal prepared by Ideal Designs, received 12.28.23, containing the following: 

a. Site Plan 
b. Building Elevations 
c. Floor Plans 

8. 3D architectural rendering of house, received 1.19.24 
    
Analysis 
 

Summary of Variation Requests 

The seven variations requests can be summarized in the chart below:  

Variation Request Code Requirement Proposed House/Property 
1st Floor Building Materials Masonry Cement Board, some masonry 
Front Yard Setback (Maple) 30’ 22.6’ 
Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific) 30’ 24.9’ 
Maximum Lot Coverage 20% maximum (3,105 SF) 28.9% (4,487 SF) 
Lot Width 120’ (corner lot) 101.28’ 

Lot Depth 150’ 147.31’ 

Lot Width & Depth (Sub Ord-921) 120’ & 150’ Same as above 
 

Existing, Non-Conformities  

The existing parcel has several existing non-conforming features:   

1. The R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot width of 120’ for a corner property.  The lot width is 
measured along the front property line, which in this case is Maple Street.  The existing width of the 
property is 101.28’, requiring a variation.  

2. The R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot depth of 150’ for any property.  The lot width is measured 
along the corner side yard property line, which in this case is Pacific Street.  The existing width of the 
property is 147.31’, requiring a variation. 

3. The existing property does not have a 5’ wide sidewalk along Pacific Street.  As residential properties are 
developed, either new lots or existing lots, sidewalks are required to be installed within the right-of-way 
along street frontages.  The Village typically requires that a sidewalk be installed, or a cash-in-lieu 
payment be made to the Village.   

Variation requests, enumerated  

First Floor Building Materials:  
 
The Zoning Ordinance requires that all homes in the R-2 zone district be wrapped in masonry on all sides of the 1st 
floor.  The code official may permit up to 15% non-masonry materials for architectural accent features but certain 
materials are prohibited outright (plywood, vinyl, steel, aluminum).   
 

1. The proposed house mostly contains a mix of cement board siding, stone masonry and face brick.  
 

2



2. There are existing one-story homes to both the east and north of the subject property and both of them 
are full masonry (brick).  
 

3. There are a total of 23 houses that have frontage along Maple Street between Pacific Street and Kansas 
Street.  Of the 14 homes on the east side of Maple Street, 6 of them are full masonry (43%).  Of the 9 
homes on the west side of Maple Street, 3 are full masonry (33%).  
 

4. There are a total of 18 houses that have frontage along Pacific Street and are visible from Pacific Street 
between Maple Street and the dead-end.  Of the 8 homes on the north side of Pacific Street, 4 are full 
masonry (50%).  Of the 18 homes on the south side of Pacific Street, 8 are full masonry (44%).  

 
Front Yard Setback (Maple Street):   

The applicant is proposing a 22.6’ front yard setback for the new house, whereas 30’ is required.  The front 
yard setback is measured from the front property line along Maple Street to the unenclosed front porch.  Staff 
calculated the approximate setback for all homes along the east side of Maple Street, between Pacific Street 
and Nebraska Street (1,400’ +/-).  As per the chart below, the average setback of homes on the east side of 
Maple Street is approximately 28.3’, which is further from the street than the requested 22.6’ setback.   

E. Side Maple Street (south to north) 
Address Street Approximate Setback 

235 Maple 28 
227 Maple 25 
221 Maple 30 
217 Maple 24 
215 Maple 27 
203 Maple 28 
230 Utah 37 
145 Maple 44 
133 Maple 26 
119 Maple 22 
117 Maple 26 
220 Nebraska 23 

      
Average   28.3 

 
Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific Street): 
 

The applicant is proposing a 24.9’ corner side yard setback for the new house, whereas 30’ is required.  The 
corner side yard setback is measured from the front property line along Pacific Street to the attached garage.  
Staff calculated the approximate setback for all homes along the north side of Pacific Street, between Maple 
Street and where it dead-ends (1,400’ +/-).  As per the chart below, the average setback of homes on the 
north side of Pacific Street is approximately 21.6’, which is closer to the street than the requested 24.9’ 
setback.   

N. Side Pacific Street (west to east) 
Address Street Approximate Setback 

256 Walnut 30 
255 Walnut 26 

3



131 Pacific 4 
255 Hickory 12 
252 Oak 22 
255 Oak 13 
21 Pacific 30 
17 Pacific 36 
      

Average   21.6 
 
Maximum Lot Coverage:  
 
The proposed lot coverage for the new house would be 28.9% (4,487 SF), whereas 20% (3,105 SF) is the maximum 
allowed.  
 

1. There are no known surveys or site plans from the former house, which was demolished in 2022, making  
comparison impossible between the former house and the proposed house.  
 

2. Although lot coverage is a separate issue from impervious lot coverage, storm sewers exist along both 
Maple Street and Pacific Street.  Public Works will require that the basement sump pump be connected to 
the storm sewer.  Other drainage connections, such as roof gutters, are not required by Public Works.  
 

Minimum Lot Width:  
 
The existing parcel is not a subdivided lot and will require a Plat of Subdivision.  The resulting lot will be 
substandard for lot width for a corner lot in the R-2 zone district, requiring a variation.  The Zoning Ordinance 
requires that a corner lot be at least 120’ wide, whereas the proposed lot would be 101.28’ wide.   
 
Minimum Lot Depth: 
 
The resulting lot will be substandard for lot depth for a lot in the R-2 zone district, requiring a variation.  The 
Zoning Ordinance requires that a lot be at least 150’ deep, whereas the proposed lot would be 147.31’ deep.   

 
Land Subdivision Regulations (Ord-921):  
 
The Land Subdivision Regulations, section 9.5-1, notes that lot width and depth must conform to the Zoning 
Ordinance requirements.  The proposed lot would be deficient in both width and depth as noted above, but a 
separate variation is required from Ord-921, similar to the new home variation project for 99 N. White Street.  
 
Trees & Landscaping 

There are currently 2 trees on the existing property and 4 trees within the rights-of-way of Pacific and Maple.  The 
2 trees on the property would be removed.  The applicant is proposing to preserve all 4 parkway trees, as they are 
very mature and in fairly good condition.   
 
Downtown Residential Design Guidelines (2019 Comp Plan) 
 
The site is located within the boundary of downtown, as illustrated in the Downtown Residential Design Guidelines 
(see attached map).    
 
The proposed site improvements employ some desirable elements as listed in the Downtown Frankfort Residential 
Design Guidelines of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan.  There are also proposed elements that do not meet the 
guidelines.  The “Quick Checklist” from these guidelines has been included with this report.  The identifier in the 
parenthesis signifies the page number within the guidelines.  

4



 
 
Meets Guidelines: 
 

• The house has multiple-pane windows. (B-2) 
• There is a well-defined entryway, with a covered front porch and columns. (B-2) 
• The primary entryway faces the public street. (B-8) 
• The proposed front setback would be about the same as those along Walnut Street. (B-4) 
• A variety of materials are used to create texture. (B-11) 
• The second floor is smaller than the first floor, softening the appearance (B-16) 

 
Does not meet Guidelines: 
 

• The garage is attached, not detached. (page B-1) 
• There are no roof dormers. (page B-2) 
• The driveway is not narrow. (B-2, B-13) 
• The house may be oversized for the lot at 4,375 SF (total living area, not including the porch).  The house 

to the north is 1,234 SF and the house to the east is 2,044 SF, both notably smaller. (B-2) 
• The house would be notably larger than other homes along both Pacific and Maple streets. (B-4) 
• The house does not adhere to a single, historical style from the late 1800s to early 1900s (Victorian, 

Colonial, Revival, Craftsman, American Foursquare).  (B-5 through B-7) 
• Predominantly non-masonry homes are preferable.  (B-11) 

 
Partial history of variations for downtown homes 
 
The subject property, as well as most of all single-family homes within the downtown, are zoned R-2, single-family 
residential.  There are a few homes in the downtown zoned H-1, R-3 and R-4.  The R-2 zone requirements are as 
follows:  
 

Standard (R-2) Requirement 
Lot Size  15,000 square feet 
Lot Width  100’ 
Lot Depth  150’ 
Front Yard Setback  30’ 
Side Yard Setback  At least 25’ total, not less than 10’ each side 
Rear Yard Setback  30’ 
Building Height  35’ 
Lot Coverage Max (%) 20% (25% for a one-story house) 
Impervious Coverage Max (%) 40% 

Driveway setback 5' (4' side loaded) 
Accessory structure setback 10’ from side or rear lot lines 

 
The following is a partial list of recent variations granted for homes in the downtown:  
 
213 Kansas (Kirsch) (PC review 1.24.19) 
Lot Size: 6,183 square feet 
Lot Width: 61.83’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

5



1. Front yard setback: 13.4' 
2. Side yard setbacks: of 10' and 10' 
3. Rear yard setback: 15.1' 
4. Lot coverage: 30% 
5. Driveway setback: 0.5' 
6. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
215 Kansas (Gallagher) (PC review 8.14.08) 
Lot Size: 4,950 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 38.3% (20% max permitted) 
2. First floor building materials for accessory structure (masonry required) 
3. Detached garage side yard setback: 0’ (10’ required) 

 
140 Walnut (McLean) (PC review 1.25.18) 
Lot Size: 6,275 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 125.5’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 15.67’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (10’ required) 
3. Lot coverage: 33.5% (20% max permitted) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
200 W. Nebraska (Leonard) (PC review 11.8.12) 
 
Lot Size: 7,000 square feet 
Lot Width: 70’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 34% (20% max permitted) 
2. Driveway setback: 0’ (5’ required) 
3. Detached garage setback: 0’ from south lot line, 4.1’ from west lot line (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage height: 21’ 4” (15’ max permitted) 

 
210 Walnut (Winters) (PC review 3.10.11) 
 
Lot Size: 11,044 square feet 
Lot Width: 90’ 
Lot Depth: 130’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 19’ (30’ required) 
2. Building height: 36’ (35’ max permitted) 
3. Lot Coverage: 29% (20% max permitted) 
4. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
5. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

6



6. Accessory structure setback: 2’ to both north and west property lines (10’ required)  
 
23 W. Bowen Street (Gander) (PC review 8.22.13) 
 
Lot Size: 8,270 square feet 
Lot Width: 52’ 
Lot Depth: 172’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Side yard setback: 6.4’ (10’ required) 
2. Lot Coverage: 26% (20% max permitted) 
3. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 
5. Accessory structure setback from side property line: 5’ (10’ required) 

 
147 White Street (Lalley) (PC review 7.8.10) 
 
Lot Size: 21,484 square feet 
Lot Width: 130’ 
Lot Depth: 165’ 
 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Detached garage setback 6.5’ from side property line (10’ required) 
 
44 W. Bowen Street (Carroll/Watson) (PC review 8.12.10) 
 
Lot Size: 16,175 square feet 
Lot Width: 100’ 
Lot Depth: 160’ 
 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Accessory structure (shed) 0’ setback from rear property line (10’ required) 
 
140 Maple (Triezenberg) (PC review 9.8.16) 
 
Lot Size: 6,250 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 130’ 
 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Driveway setback 0’ (5’ required) 
 
143 Kansas Street (Brown) (PC review 3.25.21) 
 
Lot Size: 5,000 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 10’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (13’ required)  

7



3. Detached garage setback from rear property line: 0.5’ (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage setback from side property line: 2’ (10 required) 
5. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
6. Lot coverage: 41% (20% max permitted) 
7. Impervious lot coverage: 46% (40% max permitted) 
8. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
213 Nebraska Street (Plantz) (PC review 10.27.22) 
 
Lot Size: 6,687 square feet 
Lot Width: 67.5’ 
Lot Depth: 99’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front Yard Setback: 12’ 7” (30’ required) 
2. 1st Floor Building Materials (masonry required)  
3. Detached Garage Setback: 5’ 7” (10’ required) 
4. Rear Yard Coverage: 32% (30% maximum) 
5. Lot Coverage: 32.8% (20% maximum) 
6. Impervious Lot Coverage: 41.9% (40% maximum) 
7. Garage Height: 20’ 5 ½” (15’ maximum) 

 
108 Walnut Street (Sleeman) (PC review 9.14.23) 
 
Lot Size: 6.376 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 130’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front Yard Setback: 21.8’ (30’ required) 
2. Side Yard Setback (N): 8.5’ (10’ required) 
3. Side Yard Setback (S): 4.9’ (10’ required) 
4. Lot Coverage: 36.7% (20% max) 
5. Impervious Lot Coverage: 45.2% (40% max) 
6. 1st Floor Building Materials: Masonry required, wood composite proposed 

 
Affirmative Motions (for future public hearing only) 
 

1. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request for 1st floor building materials to allow 
non-masonry siding on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the reviewed 
plans, public testimony and findings of fact.    
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the required front yard 
setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 22.6’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.   
  

3. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the required corner side yard 
setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 24.9’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.    

 
4. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to exceed the maximum lot coverage to 

allow 28.9% instead of 20%, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.    

8



 
5. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the minimum lot width to 

101.28’ instead of 120’ for a corner property, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.  

 
6. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the minimum lot depth to 

147.31’ instead of 150’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.  

 
7. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation from Section  9.5-1 of the Village of Frankfort 

Land Subdivision Regulations to approve a Plat of Subdivision for a lot width and depth which do not 
conform to the requirements of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact. 
 

 
 

9



UTAH ST

WA
LN

UT
 S

T

S M
AP

LE
 S

T HI
CK

OR
Y S

T

PACIFIC ST

UTAH ST

0 200 400100
Feet

µ

219 Pacific Street (variation requests)

10



Downtown Frankfort Boundary Map 

11

cgruba
Rectangle

cgruba
Callout
219 Kansas



B-4
YOUR FUTURE YOUR FRANKFORT

The Village of Frankfort | 2040 Comprehensive Plan

B | downtown residential design guidelines

QUICK CHECKLIST

The set of questions listed below are framed in such a way that if 
your answer is “yes” - it is likely that the design is on the right track 
towards contributing to the type of character and quality Frankfort 
seeks to maintain. The photos shown to the right are examples of 
residences that fulfill these design ideals. If the answer is not clear, 
or is questionable, you should look for ways to improve upon this 
design element.

Note: All new residential construction, building additions, and 
development in general must comply with the Zoning Ordi-
nance regulations including but not limited to setbacks, height, 
lot coverage, and building materials.

1.  Does the building architecture complement and fit the character of 
surrounding  structures - consider scale, setback, building height?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

2   Does the structure’s architecture delineate and highlight the 
primary entrance? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

3.   Are the proposed building materials consistent with the intended 
architectural style of the home and complementary to the 
materials utilized on the homes in the surrounding area?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

4.  Are simplified roof forms provided that are consistent with both 
the intended architectural style and roof forms of homes in the 
surrounding area? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

5.  Are there step-backs to the facade and / or architectural details that 
add depth and dimension, i.e. porches, bay windows?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

6.   Are there interesting architectural details and landscape 
treatments integrated on site that complement the residence?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

7.  Are the predominate facade colors / building materials of a 
natural color palette that is complementary to the homes in the 
surrounding area.

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

12



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Standards of Variation 

 
Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon the evidence provided. 
To assist the Zoning Board of Appeals in their review of the variation request(s), please provide responses 
to the following “Standards of Variation.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 

the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and  
 
 
 
 
 
3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
  
 
 
 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if 
the following seven facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence. Please 
provide responses to the following additional “Standards of Variation.”  
 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
 
 
 
 

This lot as platted is undersized lot by +- 14% compared to minimum lot dimensions 
per code.  The property in question was purchased by William and Donna Lanigan 
for the sole purpose of designing and building their own single family residence, to be 
occupied by themselves.  In order to meet their needs, reasonable minor variations 
to the adopted zoning code are hereby requested.

The Owner's desire to build a two story (4) Bedroom residence with unfinished 
Basement and attached Garage and hereby request reasonable minor variances to 
the adopted zoning code given the size of their corner lot as platted does not meet 
minimum Village size standards.

The variations if granted will not alter the essential character of this residential block. 
The architectural design and home's scale endeavor to compliment the neighborhood 
and follow the design intent of the Village's Residential Design Guidelines.  

This lot as platted is undersized lot by +- 14% compared to minimum R-2 corner lot 
dimensions per code.  The property was purchased for the sole purpose of designing 
and building a single family residence.  In order to meet Owners' needs and position 
the structure on the site, reasonable minor variations to the adopted zoning code are 
hereby requested.

2023-0196 
PROPOSED NEW 
RESIDENCE FOR 
WILLIAM AND DONNA 
LANIGAN  
LINDENGROUP 
ARCHITECTS 
2024-01-09

13

cgruba
Received



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 

interest in the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 
 
 
 
 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or  

 
 
 
 
 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

The conditions upon which this petition for variations apply would not specifically be 
applicable to other properties within the same zoning classification as this is a unique 
corner lot with site and Owner specific design considerations.

The Owner's have purchased this vacant property to build their dream home together 
and enjoy living in Frankfort for many years to come.  The size and layout of their 
proposed home is based on their needs and their needs alone.

The variances requested have not been created by any person or entity presently 
having an "interest" in the property.

The variations if granted will not be detrimental to the public's welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood. The design 
endeavors to compliment the neighborhood and follow the design intent of the 
Village's Residential Design Guidelines.  

The variations if granted will not alter the essential character of this residential block. 
The design intent is to compliment the neighborhood.  As presented, this is a quality 
design with significant architectural detailing and design sensitivity.

The variations if granted will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property 
or increase the danger of fire, or endanger the public safety or substantially diminish 
or impair property values within the neighborhood.

14



15

cgruba
Received



16

cgruba
Received



17

cgruba
Received



RECEIVED 12.28.23

18



19



20



21



22



23

cgruba
Received



24



25



26



27


	Binder1-219 Pacific-compressed.pdf
	0. Staff Report WORKSHOP 1.25.24
	1. GIS aerial 1-1000
	2. Downtown Frankfort Boundary Map
	3. Quick Checklist excerpt Comp Plan
	4. Findings of Fact (variation) 1.19.24
	5. Survey 12.28.23
	6. Plat of Subdivision 1.19.24
	7. Site Plan-Floorplan-Elevations 12.28.23
	8. 3D rendering 1.19.24




